
AGENDA

SELECT COMMITTEE - BUS TRANSPORT AND PUBLIC SUBSIDY

Monday, 10th October, 2016, at 2.00 pm Ask for: Denise Fitch/Gaetano 
Romagnuolo

Swale 2, Sessions House, County Hall, 
Maidstone

Telephone 03000 416090/ 416624

Tea/Coffee will be available 15 minutes before the start of the meeting in the meeting room

Membership 

Mr R A Marsh (Chairman), Mr M Baldock, Mr A H T Bowles, Mr C W Caller, 
Mr I S Chittenden, Mr M J Harrison, Mr G Lymer, Mr B E MacDowall and Mrs J Whittle

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS
(During these items the meeting is likely to be open to the public)

2.00 - 
2.45pm

Phil Lightowler - Head of Public Transport, Kent County Council 
(Pages 3 - 6)
  

3.00 - 
3.45pm

Norman Kemp, Co-Owner of Nu-Venture bus company and Chair 
of the Kent & Medway branch of the Confederation of Passenger 
Transport (Pages 7 - 10)
  

4.00 - 
4.45pm

Anne Clark, Managing Director of MCL Transport Consultant 
(Pages 11 - 30)
  

5.00 - 
5.45pm

KYCC Transport Committee representatives, accompanied by 
Sadie Williams, Youth Participation Worker, Kent County Council 
(Pages 31 - 48)
  

EXEMPT ITEMS
(At the time of preparing the agenda there were no exempt items.  During any such items 

which may arise the meeting is likely NOT to be open to the public)

Benjamin Watts
General Counsel (Interim) 
03000 416814

Friday, 30 September 2016



This page is intentionally left blank



Bus Transport Select Committee

Biography

Phil Lightowler

Head of Public Transport, Kent County Council

Phil has had a 25-year career in public transport and logistics.  Starting as a 
management trainee within the bus service operating industry, he progressed to 
operational management roles and then moved for a short time to food logistics.  Phil 
undertook roles in bus and coach strategy for BAA Heathrow. He also established a 
successful consultancy business before re-entering the bus service operating 
industry.  Prior to joining KCC he worked for Serco, advising governments in the 
Middle East on establishing efficient bus networks, bidding for bus franchises and 
delivering real time management systems for the largest bus network in the Middle 
East.

Phil’s role in KCC is to provide leadership, strategic direction and long-term vision in 
driving forward the development and delivery of high quality and cost effective Public 
Transport services and programmes, and ensuring a robust commercial approach to 
commissioning and delivery throughout the division.  He leads and directs the Public 
Transport management team in order to ensure that statutory and corporate 
objectives and outcomes are delivered, and to ensure compliance with both statutory 
and locally set policy requirement and targets. Finally, Phil leads in the effective 
commissioning of sustainable and relevant services that are responsive to the needs 
of local communities within Kent. 

Page 3

Agenda Item 1



This page is intentionally left blank



Bus Transport Select Committee

Hearing 3

Monday 10 October 2016

Witness Guide for Members

Below are suggested themes and questions.  They have been provided in 
advance to the witnesses to allow them to prepare for the types of issues that 
Members may be interested to explore.  All Members are welcome to ask 
these questions or pose additional ones to the witnesses via the Committee 
Chairman.

Themes and Questions

Phil Lightowler, Head of Public Transport, Kent County Council

 Please introduce yourself and provide an outline of the roles and 
responsibilities of your post.

 What is concessionary travel? Please expand on the main concessionary 
travel schemes supported by KCC. 

 Please discuss the set of criteria adopted by KCC to determine its support 
of bus services. 

 In your view, what are the future opportunities and challenges associated 
with the Bus Services Bill?

 What can KCC do, if anything, to promote improved bus transport in Kent?

 Are there any other issues that you would like to raise with the 
Committee?

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



Bus Transport Select Committee

Biography

Norman Kemp

Co-owner, Nu-Venture, and Chair of the Kent & Medway branch of the 
Confederation of Passenger Transport.

Norman Kemp is the co-owner of Nu-Venture, a local bus company based in 
Aylesford. Norman has had a 42 years’ experience in the bus industry as (at various 
times) owner, manager, consultant. Nonetheless, he is still regularly found driving 
buses. He is passionate about ensuring that buses operate reliably.         
 
Norman is also the Chair of the Kent & Medway branch of the national trade 
organisation, the Confederation of Passenger Transport. 
 

Page 7

Agenda Item 2



This page is intentionally left blank



Bus Transport Select Committee

Hearing 3

Monday 10 October 2016

Witness Guide for Members

Below are suggested themes and questions.  They have been provided in 
advance to the witnesses to allow them to prepare for the types of issues that 
Members may be interested to explore.  All Members are welcome to ask 
these questions or pose additional ones to the witnesses via the Committee 
Chairman.

Themes and Questions

Norman Kemp, Co-owner, Nu-Venture, and Chair of the Kent & Medway 
branch of the Confederation of Passenger Transport.

 Please introduce yourself and provide an outline of the roles and 
responsibilities of your positions in Nu-Venture and the Confederation of 
Passenger Transport.

 Please provide an overview of the operations of Nu-Venture in Kent. What 
are the general roles and responsibilities of local bus operators with regard 
to the delivery of bus transport in Kent?

 What are the effects of traffic congestion on bus reliability?

 What are the views of the Confederation of Passenger Transport on the 
reimbursement to bus operators for passengers carried under 
concessionary fares schemes?

 In your view, to what extent is there a need to promote public transport-
friendly schemes?

 In your view, what are the key issues, if any, around the Kent Young 
Person’s Travel Pass?

 In the view of the Confederation of Passenger Transport, what are the 
main challenges and opportunities associated with the Bus Services Bill, if 
any? 

 What can KCC do, if anything, to promote improved bus transport in Kent?

 Are there any other issues that you would like to raise with the 
Committee?

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



Bus Transport Select Committee

Biography

Anne Clark

Managing Director, MCL Transport Consultants

Anne Clark is the Managing Director of MCL Transport Consultants. She has worked 
for 15 years as a Financial Director in the bus industry before joining MCL in 2003. 
Anne specialises in financial systems, concessionary travel schemes administration, 
smart cards, smart ticketing projects and E-purse.

MCL is contracted by Kent County Council to administer and provide advice in 
relation to the ENCTS (English National Concessionary Travel Scheme) in Kent and 
Medway, as well as the Kent YPTP and 16+ Travelcard youth schemes.  MCL has 
an established claims team providing the core administration services for the ENCTS 
scheme in parallel with others around the Country.  

Page 11

Agenda Item 3



This page is intentionally left blank



Bus Transport Select Committee

Hearing 3

Monday 10 October 2016

Witness Guide for Members

Below are suggested themes and questions.  They have been provided in 
advance to the witnesses to allow them to prepare for the types of issues that 
Members may be interested to explore.  All Members are welcome to ask 
these questions or pose additional ones to the witnesses via the Committee 
Chairman.

Themes and Questions

Anne Clark, Managing Director, MCL Transport Consultants

 Please introduce yourself and provide an outline of the roles and 
responsibilities of your post.

 Please provide an outline of the main services offered by MCL, especially 
in relation to Kent County Council.

 What are the main concessionary travel schemes in Kent? What are their 
main similarities and differences?

 Please discuss how KCC concessionary travel schemes work, including 
re-imbursements and administration.

 In your view, to what extent can KCC prioritise support of the current 
delivery model of local bus transport in Kent given the current resources 
available to the local authority?

 In your view, what are the main opportunities and challenges associated 
with the recent Bus Services Bill?

 In your opinion, what are the main issues – if any – associated with bus 
transport in Kent?

 What can KCC do, if anything, to improve bus services in Kent?

 Are there any other issues that you would like to raise with the 
Committee?

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



MCL Transport Consultants Ltd – March 2016 – All rights reserved 
 

1 

THE KENT COUNTY CONCESSIONARY TRAVEL SCHEME 
ARRANGEMENTS FOR REIMBURSEMENT  
With effect from 1 April 2016 
 
Preamble 
 
These Arrangements for Reimbursement must be read in conjunction with the separate Scheme 
Definition and set out the terms for reimbursement which apply for the 12 months commencing on 
1 April 2016 and relate to the above Concessionary Travel Scheme for which the responsible 
Travel Concession Authority is Kent County Council.  
 
These Arrangements for Reimbursement are designed to meet the requirements set down in the 
Transport Act 1985, the Transport Act 2000, the Concessionary Bus Travel Act 2007 and the 
associated Regulations in accordance with Guidance issued by the Department for Transport, 
together with the requirements of EC Regulation 1370/2007.  
 
Definitions 
 
1 In these Arrangements for Reimbursement all definitions set out in the Scheme Definition 

shall apply herein: 
 

i. “Additional Capacity Costs” mean those costs claimed by a Participating Operator, 
including a reasonable return on any additional capital deployed, of providing 
additional service capacity over and above the capacity that the Participating 
Operator would be reasonably expected to  provide if there was no Scheme which 
are assessed by or on behalf of the Travel Concession Authority as being 
reasonable and which are not met by any payment in respect of Marginal Additional 
Costs; 

 
ii. “Amenity Element” when used in connection with fares, means those fares that are 

rendered significantly high as a result of that element in relation to the general level 
of fares for comparable journeys in the Principal Area in accordance with section 
96(6) of the 1985 Act; 

 
iii. "Average Cash Fare" shall mean the average fare per journey paid by adult 

passengers buying single and return tickets where single tickets count for one 
journey and return tickets count for two journeys; 

 
iv. “DfT Guidance” means the latest edition of any document and/or method statement 

(e.g. spreadsheet) which has been or is to be issued by the Department for 
Transport providing guidance on the calculation of Reimbursement. 

 
v. “Discretionary Elements” of the Scheme means any provision(s) of the Scheme 

enabled by the 1985 Act but not required by the 2000 Act or the 2007 Act which 
allows individually or in combination Passenger Journeys: 

 
a) To be made outside the statutory core time of 0930 hrs and 2300 hrs on 

weekdays other than public holidays; 
b) To be made by companions; 
c) On other than Eligible Services. 

Page 15



MCL Transport Consultants Ltd – March 2016 – All rights reserved 
 

2 

 
vi. "ENCTS Pass" shall mean a pass issued in accordance with the Concessionary Bus 

Travel Act 2007. 
 
vii. “Eligible Person” shall mean any person who has a statutory entitlement to 

concessionary travel in accordance with relevant legislation and any guidance 
issued by the Secretary of State for Transport; 

 
viii. "Entitled Person" shall mean any person for whom a Travel Concession Authority 

has discretionary powers under the 1985 Act or other relevant legislation to provide 
concessionary travel;  

 
ix. “Financial Year” shall mean a twelve month period starting on 1 April in one year 

and ending on 31 March in the following year; 
 
vi “Generated Travel” is defined as those additional journeys made over and above the 

number that would have been made had there been no travel concessions and 
arising as a direct result of the entitlement to the travel concession provided by the 
Scheme; 

 
vii “Gross Revenue Foregone” shall be the gross value of travel made under the terms 

of the Scheme calculated according to the number of Passenger Journeys made 
and Normal Fare that would have been paid in respect of those journeys before any 
adjustments in respect of Generated Travel; 

 
viii “Marginal Additional Costs” mean the sum of those additional costs necessarily 

borne by the Participating Operator as a result of participation in the scheme and 
which arise directly from the travel that is generated by the Scheme, as defined in 
the DfT Guidance: 

 
a. Administration costs – the operation of systems to provide data and information 

in the form required by the Travel Concession Authority; 
b. Marginal Operating Costs – the costs to an operator of carrying an additional 

passenger assuming a fixed level of service, for example additional fuel costs, 
engineering costs, driver hours, insurance premiums, information costs; 

c. Marginal Capacity Costs – the cost to an operator of carrying additional 
passengers and allowing the capacity of bus services to increase, by using the 
existing bus fleet more intensively to provide that additional capacity through 
increased frequency. 

 
ix “Net Financial Effect” shall be as defined in the Annex of EC Regulation 1370/2007 

and shall equate to Total Reimbursement as defined below; 
 
x “Net Revenue Foregone” shall be the value of Gross Revenue Foregone adjusted to 

take account of Generated Travel by application of a Reimbursement Factor;  
 
xi “Normal Fare” shall mean the average adult fare that would be paid in respect of the 

journeys that would be made if there were no travel concessions, taking account of 
those journeys that would be made using discounted tickets (returns, day tickets, 
weekly tickets, etc) if these are available;   

Page 16



MCL Transport Consultants Ltd – March 2016 – All rights reserved 
 

3 

 
xii "Passenger Journey" shall mean the act of a person moving from one location to 

another; 
 
xiii “Payment Periods” shall be: 
 

1 April to 30 June 
1 July to 30 September 
1 October to 31 December 
1 January to 31 March 

 
xiv "Participating Operator" shall mean a transport operator providing Included Services 

in accordance with the terms set out in the Scheme Definition 
 
xv "Reimbursement Calculator" shall mean the tool of that name provided by the DfT 

on their website for the purpose of aiding TCAs in their estimation of the total 
reimbursement required by operators. 

 
xvi “Reimbursement Factor” is defined as the proportion of total journeys that are not 

deemed to be generated by the travel concessions and would continue to be made if 
there were no travel concessions; 

 
xvii “Reimbursement Payment” means the payment made to a Participating Operator for 

the Total Reimbursement due in respect of all Included Services he provides; 
 
xviii “Revenue Reimbursement” shall be the payment due to the Participating Operator in 

respect of the Net Revenue Foregone as a result of participation in the Scheme (for 
the avoidance of doubt this excludes any payment in respect of Additional Costs); 

 
xix “Standard Method” is the method of calculating Total Reimbursement that will be 

applied unless any Participating Operator can provide comprehensive evidence to 
demonstrate to the satisfaction of the Travel Concession Authority that the Standard 
Method will not lead to the Participating Operator being reimbursed in accordance 
with the Regulations; 

 
xx “Statutory Elements” of the Scheme mean any provision(s) of the Scheme which 

allow holders of the ENCTS Pass to benefit from statutory minimum travel 
concession; 

 
xxi “Total Reimbursement” shall be the sum of Revenue Reimbursement, Marginal 

Additional Costs and Additional Capacity Costs; 
 
xxii “Travel Concession Authority” shall mean the authority responsible for this Scheme 

as named in the Preamble to this document and the term “Travel Concession 
Authority” shall also mean “Administering Authority” in the context of matters 
deriving from the Transport Act 1985; 

 
 

Page 17



MCL Transport Consultants Ltd – March 2016 – All rights reserved 
 

4 

Requirements of Participating Operators 
 
2. Until notice to the contrary all dealings with the Travel Concession Authority should be 

carried out through the offices of the Travel Concession Authority or any other body 
(agent, consultant or contractor) they nominate, such nomination to be made in writing. 

 
3. Participating Operators shall enable holders of valid ENCTS Passes to make Passenger 

Journeys free of charge in accordance with the Scheme Definition in respect of both the 
Statutory Elements and the Discretionary Elements of the Scheme. 

 
4. Pursuant to the proper administration of the Scheme and to facilitate the process of 

reimbursement Participating Operators shall: 
 

i. permit (including the right to travel free of charge) officers, servants, agents 
and/or contractors of the Travel Concession Authority or others rightfully acting 
on its behalf access at any time to the vehicles of the Participating Operator on 
which concessions are given for the purposes of: 
a) surveying or counting or estimating the number of passengers (whether 

generally or of any particular description) and the fares paid by those 
passengers and/or; 

b) obtaining information on other matters relating to the Passenger 
Journeys made by Eligible Persons and Entitled Persons which, in the 
opinion of the Travel Concession Authority is necessary for the 
calculation and/or verification of reimbursement payments and/or; 

ii. provide at such times as the Travel Concession Authority may reasonably 
request information relevant to the calculation of reimbursement as may be 
specified and in the form specified in these Arrangements for Reimbursement or 
as otherwise requested at the time; 

iii. cooperate with the Travel Concession Authority to establish and maintain an 
inventory of boarding stages that are within the principal area of the Scheme 
and/or its close vicinity and, if required, to assist in the process of allocating 
boarding stages to sub divisions of the principal area; 

iv. As soon as possible and at least 7 days in advance of it taking effect, notify the 
Travel Concession Authority of any change or changes to fares on any Included 
service; 

v. As soon as possible and in advance of it taking effect notify the Travel 
Concession Authority of any material change (additions, deletions and/or 
variations) to Included Services including details of any new or revised boarding 
stages; 

vi. Provide reasonable assistance to the Travel Concession Authority in the 
operation and administration of the Scheme; 

vii. Provide reasonable assistance and information to the Travel Concession 
Authority to enable the forward planning of budget requirements to properly fund 
the Scheme. 

 
Should an operator be upgrading to new technology such as new ETMs or 
smartcard readers and find that they are having difficulty with programming or 
sending complete data within the required timescale, then they should contact 
the Scheme Administrator without delay. 

 

Page 18



MCL Transport Consultants Ltd – March 2016 – All rights reserved 
 

5 

 
5. The Travel Concession Authority shall ensure that any information obtained in 

accordance with paragraph 4 shall be used only for the purpose of administering the 
Scheme and shall be confidential to the Travel Concession Authority and/or its 
contractors and/or consultants employed to assist in the administration of the Scheme 
and/or any auditors acting on behalf of the Travel Concession Authority. 

 
Reimbursement 

 
6. Participating Operators shall be compensated for the Net Financial Effect of carrying all 

Passenger Journeys made under the terms of the Statutory Elements and Discretionary 
Elements by holders of ENCTS Passes which commence from a boarding stage defined 
as being within the principal area of the Scheme. Participating Operators shall also be 
compensated for the Net Financial Effect of all Passenger Journeys made under the 
terms of local Discretionary Elements by holders of ENCTS Passes and which 
commence from a boarding stage defined as being within the principal area of the 
Scheme.  The Net Financial Effect shall be calculated with regard to the Annex of EC 
Regulation 1370/2007 and with the objective of achieving the “no better/no worse” 
position for Participating Operators as set out in the Travel Concession Schemes 
Regulations 1986 and/or any successor or additional Regulations.   

 
7. Reimbursement payments will include provision for both Statutory and Discretionary 

Elements of the Scheme.  It is not however intended to differentiate between these two 
elements.  The Travel Concession Authority will provide sufficient funds to enable 
payment of the Total Reimbursement due to each Participating Operator. 

 
8. The initial budget for Reimbursement in respect of a Financial Year will be determined in 

advance by estimating the Total Reimbursement requirement for the Financial Year.  The 
method of estimation will take into account, where such information is available a range 
of factors in accordance with DfT Guidance using the actual or projected Total 
Reimbursement for the preceding year adjusted to take account of quantifiable changes 
in: 

 
a) The inflationary impact of fares increases;  
b) Demographic changes; 
c) Trends in the take-up of ENCTS Passes 
d) The impact of service improvement projects, significant new registrations and service 

reductions; 
e) The impact of parking and/or traffic reduction schemes; 
f) Land-use changes (new developments, changed uses, new attractors, etc); 
g) Growth trends in travel activity (relating to the general economy); 
h) Other relevant factors including long-term elasticity changes. 

 
9. Where no information is available in respect of any of the factors above, reasonable 

estimates will be used. 
 

Payment and Calculation of Reimbursement 
 
10. Payments will be made to Participating Operators of existing services on the following 

basis: 

Page 19



MCL Transport Consultants Ltd – March 2016 – All rights reserved 
 

6 

 
a) An amount equivalent to 95% of the latest estimate of Total Reimbursement due in 

respect of each month shall be paid to each Participating Operator by the 1st day of 
each month or the next working day if that day falls on a weekend or public holiday. 

b) The cumulative balance of the Total Reimbursement due at the end of each Payment 
Period shall be calculated as set out below, using out-turn data for the period, and 
shall be paid to the Participating Operator by the last day of the following Payment 
Period or the previous working day if that day falls on a weekend or public holiday. 

 
12. Participating Operators will be notified in advance of the amount of each payment made 

in accordance with 10(a) above and any subsequent variation to that amount. 
 
13. Payments will be made to new operators and to existing operators in respect of new 

services on the following basis: 
 

a) An initial payment equal to 95% of the Total Reimbursement estimated to be due for 
the period from the commencement of operation up to and including the end of the 
month in which the payment is made shall be paid within 28 days of the receipt of 
operational data for at least 3 months from which the payment will be calculated; 
where this is likely to cause cash flow problems for an operator the Travel 
Concession Authority may make an earlier payment at their discretion provided data 
received for 2 months shows consistency in Passenger Journeys. 

b) After the initial payment 95% of the estimated Total Reimbursement due in respect of 
each month shall be paid to the Participating Operator by the 1st day of each 
subsequent month or the previous working day if that day falls on a weekend or 
public holiday. 

c) The cumulative balance of the Total Reimbursement due at the end of each Payment 
Period shall be calculated as set out below and will be paid to the Participating 
Operator by the last day of the following Payment Period or the previous working day 
if that day falls on a weekend or public holiday. 

 
14. The Scheme reserves the right to reclaim any overpayments either by invoice or by 

deducting the overpaid amounts from future Reimbursement Payments.  Such 
overpayments will be advised no later than 3 months after the end of the Financial Year 
to which the overpayment relates and deductions from future payments will normally be 
made no later than 6 months after the end of the Financial Year to which the 
overpayment relates. 

 
15. Participating Operators incurring a very low level of Net Revenue Foregone over a 

Financial Year may request to be paid on the basis of a fixed level of Total 
Reimbursement which may be agreed between the Participating Operator and the Travel 
Concession Authority and kept under review. 

 
16. Payments to any Participating Operators falling outside the statutory provisions will be 

based on an agreed formula with the objective of being no more and no less generous 
than the terms of reimbursement in respect of local services. 

 
 
 
 

Page 20



MCL Transport Consultants Ltd – March 2016 – All rights reserved 
 

7 

Balancing Payments 
 
17. The balance of Total Reimbursement due at the end of a Payment Period shall be the 

difference between: 
 

a) The payments already made at that time in respect of the period commencing at the 
beginning of the respective Financial Year less any overpayments invoiced and/or 
deducted and; 

b) The Total Reimbursement due at that time on the basis of out-turn data in respect of 
the period commencing at the beginning of the respective Financial Year and 
calculated as set out below. 

 
18. Participating Operators will be sent a reimbursement statement detailing each balancing 

payment reconciliation.  This statement will show the following for the period from the 
start of the Financial Year to the end of the relevant Payment Period: 

 
a) The sum of the payments due to the Participating Operator; 
b) The sum of the payments so far made to the Participating Operator; 
c) The amount of any balancing payment or reclaim. 

 
19. Payments will only be released to Participating Operators upon receipt of a properly 

completed claim together with the necessary out-turn data and information required in 
respect of the previous Payment Period.  These claims and data returns must be 
submitted within 8 working days of the end of each Payment Period. 

 
Total Reimbursement 

 
20. Total Reimbursement for any period is the aggregate of the sum of Revenue 

Reimbursement, Marginal Additional Costs and Additional Capacity Costs for the same 
period in respect of each service/route operated by each Participating Operator during 
that period. 

 
Revenue Reimbursement 

 
21. The Standard Method will calculate, using out-turn data for the Financial Year to date, the 

cumulative value of Revenue Reimbursement due at the end of each payment period for 
each service /route or group of services/routes operated by each Participating Operator 
as follows: 

 

R = (J x RF) x (F x FDF) 

 
Where: 
R  is Revenue Reimbursement 
J  is the validated out-turn number of Passenger Journeys made in accordance 

with the Statutory and Discretionary Elements of the Scheme and starting in the 
principal area of the Scheme from the beginning of the respective Financial Year 
to the end of the period in question 

RF is the Reimbursement Factor which represents the proportion of actual travel that 
would take place if there was no travel concession scheme.  Subject to the 
exceptions set out in paragraph 23, the value of the Reimbursement Factor will 

Page 21



MCL Transport Consultants Ltd – March 2016 – All rights reserved 
 

8 

be calculated for each Participating Operator using the Reimbursement 
Calculator provided by the Department for Transport. 

F  is the Average Cash Fare paid per adult journey on bus, calculated for each 
route or group of routes. 

FDF is the fares discount factor calculated using the Reimbursement Calculator 
provided by the Department for Transport. 

  
22. The detailed method by which the Reimbursement Calculator will be used is set out in 

the Annex to this document.  Operators will be expected to provide to the Travel 
Concession Authority the necessary inputs required by the Reimbursement Calculator.  If 
this information is not provided the Travel Concession Authority will use reasonable 
estimates.  
 

23. The value of the Reimbursement Factor derived from the Reimbursement Calculator may 
be adjusted: 

 
i.  At the entire discretion of the Travel Concession Authority for certain types of 

service where the growth in concessionary journeys per vehicle kilometer 
following the introduction of free concessionary travel is significantly lower than 
that assumed by the Reimbursement Calculator. Such exceptions are likely to be 
limited to: 

1. Eligible Services registered under Sections  12, 13, and 22  of the 1985 
Transport Act (e.g. taxi buses, dial-a-ride and community buses) 

2. Discretionary services registered under Section 19 of the 1985 Transport 
Act if allowed by the Travel Concession Authority (e.g. dial-a-ride) 

3. Infrequent services (one journey per day or less)  
4. Services operated under contracts which specify lower than normal fares  

ii. If an operator submits an evidenced case to the Travel Concession Authority 
which demonstrates to the Travel Concession Authority’s satisfaction that the 
Reimbursement Factor value derived from the Reimbursement Calculator does 
not fulfil the “no better/no worse” objective. A Participating Operator may take 
any ongoing dispute over the application of the Reimbursement Calculator to 
Alternate Dispute Resolution (ADR) in accordance with Clauses 45 to 48. 

 
Participating Operators will be advised of any adjusted Reimbursement Factor that will 
apply in respect of any of their Eligible Services  

 
Values used in calculating Revenue Reimbursement 

 
24. The values used in the formula set out in paragraph 21 will be derived from data supplied 

by each Participating Operator as set out in paragraphs 25 to 30 below. 
 

25. The validated number of Passenger Journeys will be based on the number of journeys 
recorded by the Participating Operator.  Passenger Journeys outside of the valid times 
for travel and/or boarding at a stage outside of the principal area of the Scheme will be 
discounted.  Where necessary the recorded number of journeys may be adjusted by a 
“Count Adjustment Factor” (CAF) applicable to the Participating Operator.  The value of 
this factor if it is to be other than 1.000 will be the subject of consultation and agreement 
between the Participating Operator concerned and the Travel Concession Authority.   

 

Page 22



MCL Transport Consultants Ltd – March 2016 – All rights reserved 
 

9 

26. Any Count Adjustment Factor will be determined by surveys undertaken over a sample of 
services provided by the Participating Operator.  Where the surveys show a sustained 
and significant variation between the surveyed number of journeys and the number 
recorded by the Participating Operator over a period of not less than 2 months, he will be 
advised accordingly and the value of the factor will be set to adjust the recorded number 
of trips.  If the Participating Operator can demonstrate to the satisfaction of the Travel 
Concession Authority that he has successfully taken action to alter the factor or obviate 
the need for it he can apply to the Travel Concession Authority accordingly setting out his 
case for the factor to be reviewed.  The same Count Adjustment Factor value will 
normally apply in respect of all services provided by the Participating Operator 
concerned. 

 
27. The actual values of Count Adjustment Factors are specific to an individual Participating 

Operator and are based on operational data which may cause the values to vary from 
time to time.  As such these values are not deemed to be part of these Arrangements for 
Reimbursement and any change to the value of a factor cannot be interpreted as a 
variation to the Arrangements for Reimbursement.  However, the value of any Count 
Adjustment Factors and/or any changes thereto will be subject to a period of consultation 
of at least 28 days.   
 

28. Should no agreement be reached as to the value of the factor by the end of the period of 
consultation, the Travel Concession Authority may determine the value but will give at 
least 14 days' written notice of the intended date of implementation of any factor and/or 
change to the value of any factor to the Participating Operator concerned, in which case 
the Participating Operator may take any unresolved, ongoing dispute over the value of 
the factor to Alternate Dispute Resolution (ADR) in accordance with Clauses 45 to 48 

 
29. The Average Cash Fare will be calculated from the average adult fare per journey paid 

by fare paying passengers (single fares counting as one journey and returns as two 
journeys) on each route 

 
30. The Travel Concession Authority also reserves the right to adjust the Average Cash Fare 

to take account of any significant variation in journey lengths between people making free 
concessionary journeys and those paying a fare (to remove as far as is possible any bias 
reflected in the average adult fare per journey) and any overall reduction in the lengths of 
journeys that would arise if a commercial fare was to be paid in a case where there was 
no travel concession scheme.  The case for any such adjustment will have to be 
demonstrable and no such adjustment will be made without consultation and agreement 
with the Participating Operator concerned. 
 

 
Marginal Additional Costs 

 
31. A payment in respect of Marginal Additional Costs will be made in addition to Revenue 

Reimbursement.  The Standard Method will calculate this payment on the basis of a 
payment per generated journey, based on the DfT Guidance as follows: 

 

 Marginal Operating Costs  £0.075 

 Scheme Administration Costs  £0.002 

 Marginal Capacity Costs  £0.100 

Page 23



MCL Transport Consultants Ltd – March 2016 – All rights reserved 
 

10 

 
The above values will be reviewed annually in accordance with DfT Guidance issued  
from time to time.  A minimum annual payment of £500 or 50% of Revenue 
Reimbursement, whichever is the lower, will apply in all cases. 

 
32. If a Participating Operator can produce evidence that he is incurring Marginal Operating 

Costs and/or Marginal Capacity Costs at a rate that is significantly different from the rate 
shown in paragraph 31, as a direct result of the Scheme, then such evidence will be 
taken into account to ensure that the Participating Operators overall reimbursement is fair 
and reasonable.  A claim for such costs must be submitted to the Travel Concession 
Authority within six (6) months of the start of the respective Financial Year.  Should the 
Travel Concession Authority not receive such a claim from the Participating Operator 
within the said period, time being of the essence, then any claim in this regard will be 
deemed to have been waived by the Participating Operator and the Revenue 
Reimbursement paid by the Travel Concession Authority will be deemed to fully satisfy all 
claims due to the Participating Operator.  The calculation of any revised rate must be 
consistent with the number of generated journeys implicit in the Reimbursement Factor 
that applies. A Participating Operator may take any ongoing dispute over Marginal 
Additional Costs to Alternate Dispute Resolution (ADR) in accordance with Clauses 45 to 
48 provided that such claim is submitted within the said six month period, time being of 
the essence.   

 
33. The number of generated journeys to be used in the calculation of the supplement 

referred to in Clause 31 will be calculated as follows: 
 

Jg = J x (1 - RF) 
 
Where: 
Jg  is the number of generated journeys 

 J  is the validated number of passenger Journeys 

RF Is the Reimbursement Factor (see paragraph 20)  

 
 

Additional Capacity Costs 
 
34. The Travel Concession Authority recognises that circumstances may exist where the 

volume of concessionary travel on certain services requires additional capacity to be 
provided, relative to that which would have been provided if there was no Scheme.  Any 
reimbursement in respect of Additional Capacity Costs will therefore need to be based on 
data submissions or claims which will be dealt with in accordance with paragraphs 35 to 
38 below.  Participating Operators are encouraged to avoid the need to make 
retrospective claims and where possible should submit their claims in advance of the 
period to which they will apply so that the Travel Concession Authority is able to make 
any necessary financial provision.   All claims for Additional Capacity Costs must be 
submitted by the Participating Operator to the Travel Concession Authority within six (6) 
months of the end of the respective financial year to which the claim relates, time being 
of the essence.  Should such a claim for Additional Capacity Costs not be submitted 
within the said period, time being of the essence, then any claim for Additional Capacity 
Costs will be deemed to have been waived by the Participating Operator and the Total 

Page 24



MCL Transport Consultants Ltd – March 2016 – All rights reserved 
 

11 

Reimbursement otherwise paid by the Travel Concession Authority shall be deemed to 
fully satisfy all claims due to the Participating Operator. 
 

35. Participating Operators who wish to claim reimbursement in respect of Additional 
Capacity Costs will be required to supply evidence to the Travel Concession Authority 
that the need for the additional capacity arises as a direct result of the Scheme.  The 
Participating Operator will also be required to demonstrate the efficiency of the solution 
adopted to provide the additional capacity required and, if appropriate, the commercial 
viability of any lower level of service that he would operate if there was no scheme and 
the reasonableness of the cost differences, taking into account any impact on 
commercial revenues. 
 

36. Depending on the basis of the claim, the claim will need to be supported with adequate 
information for it to be assessed and the valuation checked, which will include: 
 

 a clear statement of the need for additional capacity; 

 before and after capacity; 

 before and after load factors; 

 numbers of fare-paying and concessionary passengers in sufficient detail to identify 
peak loading periods across the day; 

 consideration of possible options for resolving the issue taking into account the peak 
and off peak capacity requirements; 

 the impact on commercial revenue; 

 method of determining costs including rates per mile and rates per hour with details 
of the various elements making up these rates; 

 the value of any additional capital deployed; 

 the rate for the return on capital employed..  
 

37. If the claim for Additional Capacity Costs together with the Revenue Reimbursement 
payments and Marginal Additional Costs payments would in practice over-reimburse a 
Participating Operator, then this will be taken into account in the assessment of the 
amount of Additional Capacity Costs payable. 

 
38. Participating Operators will be provided with guidance on the detailed information 

required by the Travel Concession Authority as soon as possible after they notify their 
intention to submit a claim.  The Travel Concession Authority will ensure that each claim 
is assessed by a person or firm suitably qualified to do so and subject to being satisfied 
that the claim is properly and fully evidenced will make payment of any sum identified by 
the person or firm undertaking the assessment as being due.  A Participating Operator 
may take any ongoing dispute over the payment of an additional capacity cost claim to 
Alternate Dispute Resolution (ADR) in accordance with Clauses 45 to 48.   

 
Reimbursement Claims and Data Returns 

 
39. Data enabling the calculation of Revenue Foregone shall normally be provided by 

Participating Operators in electronic form extracted directly from electronic ticketing 
machines and those machines must be configured such that journeys made by Scheme 
passholders can be separately identified.  Participating Operators expected to receive 
Total Reimbursement totalling £50,000 or more in respect of a Financial Year must 
provide data in this form. 

Page 25



MCL Transport Consultants Ltd – March 2016 – All rights reserved 
 

12 

 
40. Participating Operators expected to receive Total Reimbursement totalling less than 

£50,000 in respect of a Financial Year may provide an acceptable equivalent to 
electronic data, but only if electronic data is not available. 
 

41. The precise specification of the required data shall normally be a matter of agreement 
between each Participating Operator and the Travel Concession Authority but the Travel 
Concession Authority reserves the right to reasonably specify the content, manner, form 
and method by which such information has to be extracted and provided in cases where 
they consider it necessary to do so.  The information normally required will be as follows: 

 
a. Details of each journey made by a scheme passholder (route/service identifier, 

journey number, driver identifier, boarding stage, time, etc) 
b. The average fare paid by fare paying passengers purchasing tickets on bus for each 

route/service and for each data return period (or information to enable this to be 
calculated) 

 
42. In special cases (for example small commercial operators or community transport 

operators), Participating Operators who are unable to provide data from electronic ticket 
machines or its equivalent may, subject to the prior agreement of the Travel Concession 
Authority, have their Revenue Foregone estimated by means of data from sample 
surveys (or other sources) on their services or services of a similar type in the same 
area.  To facilitate the process of estimation they may be required to provide details of 
gross revenue.   
 

43. The frequency of data returns shall be a matter to be determined between each 
Participating Operator and the Travel Concession Authority but such returns shall 
normally be monthly but shall be no less frequent than quarterly and shall be provided 
within 8 working days of the end of each period to which they relate.  The Travel 
Concession Authority reserves the right to withhold payments of reimbursement in whole 
or in part in cases where Participating Operators do not submit data returns on time 
and/or in the required form. 
 
Notice of Withdrawal from Scheme 

 
44. In the event that a Participating Operator wishes to withdraw his participation in respect 

of the Discretionary Elements of the Scheme he must give at least 42 days notice in 
writing to the Travel Concession Authority. 

 
Alternate Dispute Resolution (ADR)  

 
45. The Participating Operator and the Travel Concession Authority shall attempt to resolve 

any dispute in connection with the application of these Arrangements for 
Reimbursement through negotiations between the parties. If the dispute is not so 
resolved, either party may request that the dispute is resolved through an agreed 
Alternative Dispute Resolution (ADR) procedure within 12 months of the year end to 
which these Arrangements for Reimbursement relate. The Travel Concession Authority’s 
preferred procedure would be Mediation. For the avoidance of doubt for these 
Arrangements for Reimbursement the year end is defined as being 31 March 2017. 

 

Page 26



MCL Transport Consultants Ltd – March 2016 – All rights reserved 
 

13 

46. Unresolved disputes over which Alternative Dispute Resolution (ADR) may be sought 
shall be:  

 
a) Disputes over the application of the DfT Reimbursement Calculator in the 

calculation of the Reimbursement factor in accordance with Clause 23(ii); 
b) The determination by the Travel Concession Authority of a Count Adjustment 

Factor, the value of which a Participating Operator has reason to dispute; 
c) Disputes over the amount of any payment awarded in response to a claim made 

by a Participating Operator for the reimbursement of Marginal Additional Costs in 
accordance with Clause 32. 

d) Disputes over the amount of any payment awarded in response to a claim made 
by a Participating Operator for the reimbursement of Additional Capacity Costs in 
accordance with Clauses 34 to 38. 

 
For the avoidance of doubt any matter referred to ADR must be supported by detailed 
evidence endorsed by appropriate technical advisors. 

 
47. The matter of costs relating to the ADR procedure shall be dealt with as part of the 

process of ADR.  
 

48. ADR shall be without prejudice to the rights of Participating Operators under Part V of the 
Travel Concession Schemes Regulations 1986 and/or Section 150(3) of the Transport 
Act 2000 (as amended) and/or any other relevant legislation and/or regulations and does 
not affect any other legal rights that the parties might have of resolving any dispute 
arising from these Arrangements for Reimbursement. 

 

Page 27



MCL Transport Consultants Ltd – March 2016 – All rights reserved 
 

14 

ANNEX - APPLICATION OF THE DfT REIMBURSEMENT CALCULATOR (“the Calculator”) 
 
Note: This Annex is not part of the published Scheme Arrangements, but merely expands 
on the methodology of how the DfT Calculator will be used. 
 
The Reimbursement Calculator will be applied at Participating Operator level to calculate a Fares 
Discount Factor (FDF), Reimbursement Factor (RF) and the components making up Marginal 
Additional Costs.  Where a Participating Operator provides any services in one or more of the 
special categories identified in paragraph 23(i) of the main document, these will be grouped and 
treated separately from the other services run by that operator. 
 
The Average Fare and, hence, FDF value will be calculated using the “Discount Factor Method” 
within the Reimbursement Calculator.   
 
Participating Operators will be required to submit monthly returns to enable the average annual 
value of day and week tickets to be established and input to the “Discount Factor Method”.  The 
Travel Concession Authority will circulate a pro-forma for this purpose to each Participating 
Operator.  The Cash Fare value used will be obtained from the routine data submitted by each 
Participating Operator and calculated as an average weighted by the volume of concessionary 
travel on each route or group of routes. 
 
A Participating Operator who can show conclusively that the “Discount Factor Method” is 
inappropriate as defined in Table 5.1 of DfT Guidance may submit an evidenced case to the 
Travel Concession Authority to use the “Basket of Fares” method to calculate the FDF value.  
Submissions must be made by Participating Operators during the first 6 months of a Scheme 
Year in accordance with the requirements of the main document but until the Travel Concession 
Authority has assessed the evidence and given approval for the “Basket of Fares” method to be 
used, the value derived from the “Discount Factor Method” shall prevail.  It shall be for the Travel 
Concession Authority to determine whether or not any adjusted FDF value shall be applied 
retrospectively. 
 
In determining whether the “Basket of Fares” method should be used the Travel Concession 
Authority will need to see evidence from the Participating Operator that will include conclusive 
evidence of the average number of trips made using each ticket type included in the basket and 
the proportion of sales of each ticket type to eligible concessionaires in the absence of a free 
scheme. This may not be the actual sales to non concessionary travellers.   
    
In cases where a Participating Operator does not offer any discounted ticket products other than 
return tickets, the FDF value will be 1.0000. 
 
Once set for the Scheme Year, the FDF will not be recalculated, except if challenged as above. 
Data provided during the year will be used to calculate the FDF to apply in the next Scheme Year. 
 
The RF value will be derived from the RF model within the Calculator, normally using the Non-
PTE Demand Curve and the change in Average Fare between 2005/06 and the year in question, 
the latter as derived above.  Average Fare increases between 2005/6 and the year in question 
will be calculated by the Travel Concession Authority on the basis of data already held or 
requested from an operator. 
 

Page 28



MCL Transport Consultants Ltd – March 2016 – All rights reserved 
 

15 

The Travel Concession Authority will not use the facility to recalculate any factors using an 
updated inflation index during the financial year; however the latest available indices will be used 
to calculate the individual Participating Operator parameters for the Scheme year notified at least 
28 days before the Scheme is due to take effect. 
 
For Schemes where the 2005/06 average fare was established in 2011/12, this will not change. 
For schemes where the 2005/06 average fare is not known, the National Bus Fares Index 
between 2005/06 and 2010/11 will be used, together with the actual change in fares between 
2010/11 and the year in question. The 2016/17 average fare will be estimated using data 
provided by the Participating Operator, including a forecast of fares increases. The percentage 
change between these two average fares will be used to calculate the Reimbursement Factor 
using the Reimbursement Calculator. That Reimbursement Factor will apply for the year and will 
not be recalculated at the year end. 
 
Marginal Additional Costs will be calculated on the basis of a payment per generated journey for 
each Participating Operator, and will be formulated as defined in the DfT Guidance as set out 
below: 
 
Marginal operating Costs will be paid at the value of £0.075 in 2016/17 
 
Scheme Administration Costs will be paid at the value of £0.002 in 2016/17 
 
Marginal Capacity Costs will be paid at the value of £0.100 in 2016/17.  
 
 
The Factors to be used will be advised at least 28 days before the Scheme Year commences (ie 
by early March each year) and will be based on fares data for the 12 month period from 1 
October to 30 September (the base period) to which will be applied an increase factor which each 
Participating Operator will be required to supply by 31 December each year.  This factor will need 
to represent gross effect of actual and anticipated increases between the base period and the 
scheme year in question.  The Travel Concession Authority will circulate a pro-forma to each 
Participating Operator at the beginning of December, requesting this information by 31 December 
each year and explaining more fully what is required.  If this information is not provided, the 
Travel Concession Authority will determine and will use an assumed increase. 
 
Operators who can provide evidence that the application of the DfT Calculator in the way 
described above does not leave them “no better and no worse off” are at liberty to submit their 
own fully completed Calculator for consideration by the Travel Concession Authority, within 6 
months of the start of the year in question subject to the criteria of the main document. 
 
This must be accompanied by clear evidence to support variations from defaults and any 
variations must be applied to all DfT Calculator entries to ensure that individual elements that will 
benefit a Participating Operator are not singled out with defaults remaining where they will be of 
benefit. 
 
Specific examples of this are: 
 
Average Fare increases between 2005/6 and the year in question. 
 
Marginal Operating Costs – Journey length 

Page 29



MCL Transport Consultants Ltd – March 2016 – All rights reserved 
 

16 

If other than the default 3.9 miles is to be used, the figure must be an average of all of that 
Participating Operator’s services. Individual treatment by route will not be considered 
 
Marginal Capacity Costs 
A Participating Operator must submit their own replacement to default values on a network wide 
basis, having produced a separate spreadsheet detailing each route operated within the scheme, 
each parameter being a “local value”, not a mix of defaults and local (see the exception detailed 
below on cost rates). Each element in the sheet will then be aggregated in accordance with 
Annex J of the DfT Guidance and entered by the Participating Operator into the Calculator as a 
network total. Singling out certain routes for special treatment will not be considered. The 
supporting calculations must be provided with the completed DfT Calculator. 
 
The DfT Guidance allows for local costs per mile and per hour to be used, but recommends 
strongly that normally the defaults will be used. The Travel Concession Authority will follow that 
advice. However if a  Participating Operator can prove that he is significantly disadvantaged by 
using these default values, he may submit for consideration alternative values which must be 
auditable. Due reference to the Guidance must be made, especially paragraph 7.43 which 
indicates that true marginal costs must be used, not average costs, in the same way that the 
defaults have been calculated.. 
 
Previous Challenge 
Where a Participating Operator has previously challenged the DfT Calculator values, the agreed 
basis of the challenge will continue, but factors will be updated in the light of the new DfT 
Guidance and DfT Calculator for the relevant year. 
 
Appeals 
It is expected that by allowing Participating Operators to challenge calculations and defaults, 
appeals will be avoided. However it is acknowledged that the appeal deadline makes this 
challenging. The Travel Concession Authority therefore requests that such challenges are 
submitted without delay to enable a full review to be undertaken before the appeal deadline. 
 
 

Page 30



Bus Transport Select Committee

Hearing 3

Monday 10 October 2016

Witness Guide for Members

Below are suggested themes and questions.  They have been provided in 
advance to the witnesses to allow them to prepare for the types of issues that 
Members may be interested to explore.  All Members are welcome to ask 
these questions or pose additional ones to the witnesses via the Committee 
Chairman.

Themes and Questions

Claude Evele, Joseph Horsnell, , Arpana Rai and Charlotte Swaine -  
Kent Youth County Council (KYCC) Transport Committee

Sadie Williams, Youth Participation Worker, Kent County Council

 Please introduce yourselves to the Committee.

 What are the key objectives of the KYCC Transport Committee? What 
have its key achievements been?

 What are the main issues with regard to local, public transport from a 
young person’s perspective? Please include in your answer the key 
findings outlined in the Transportation Brief.

 In your view, to what extent is the current provision of rural bus services in 
Kent effective in meeting the needs of young people?

 Please discuss the opportunities and challenges, if any, associated with 
the Kent Young Person's Travel Pass.

 What should KCC do, if anything, to improve bus transport in Kent?

 Are there any other issues that you would like to raise with the 
Committee?

Page 31

Agenda Item 4



This page is intentionally left blank



KENT YOUTH COUNTY COUNCIL

TRANSPORTATION BRIEF
KYCC Transportation Committee

Wednesday 12th April 2016

Authored by the KYCC Transportation Committee

Analysis of our questionnaire programme’s results and recommendations of the KYCC 
Transport Committee.

Edited and compiled by Joe Horsnell

Page 33



2

KYCC Transport Committee Outlook MeetingWednesday 3rd June 2015 |

Introduction

Welcome to the KYCC Transport Committee Outlook Meeting.
The Kent Youth County Council Transport Committee represents the interests of over 150,000 
young people across the county and is looking towards improving the quality of services that 
our electorate deserve. Due to the fact that we are members of an elected body, we have a 
mandate to seek to do these things on behalf of the 11-18 demographic.

In this meeting, we hope to:
 Discuss the results of our recent questionnaire.
 Get the transport companies (Stagecoach, Arriva, NuVenture, Southeastern and 

Crosskeys) on board with our proposals.
 Get the backing of the Kent County Council.
 To seek real change over the way public transport is delivered.
 Discuss the issues that transport companies have with young people on their services 

and seek to develop a strategy to deal with the issues raised.
 Create a comprehensive strategy to combat issues raised in our questionnaire.

Thank you for attending this meeting and we hope to make real progress in our mutual aims to 
make public transport in Kent better.

Contents

Cover page Page 1
Introduction and Contents Page 2
Questionnaire Details and Procedure Page 3
Example Questionnaire Page 4
Findings: Transport questions Page 5
Findings: Transport questions continued Page 6
Findings: Transport questions continued Page 7
Findings: Transport questions continued & Bicycle questions Page 8
Findings: Bicycle questions continued Page 9
Share of Sample per company and modes of transport taken Page 10
Young Person’s and Post-16 Travel Pass Prices – KYCC Proposal Page 11
KYCC Transport’s Response to Increased Fees Page 12
PTECK campaign Page 13
The KYCC Transport Team & our Final Note Page 14
Notes sheet Page 15

Page 34



3

KYCC Transport Committee Outlook MeetingWednesday 3rd June 2015 |

Questionnaire Details

We aimed to make our questionnaire as representative of the young people of Kent as possible. 
To ensure this, we gained a fair representation between genders, ages, regions and education 
types.
We gained a sample of 792, so the results from our survey are representative.

Included is a copy of the questionnaire that we used. Below, are the instructions issued to all of 
our group members on how to complete the questionnaire.

Page 35



4

KYCC Transport Committee Outlook MeetingWednesday 3rd June 2015 |

TRANSPORTATION INFORMATION COLLECTION 

SURVEY
Please complete all questions in this survey. Thank you for taking part.

Please only complete this survey if you currently use or have previously used PUBLIC TRANSPORT IN KENT.

YOUR INFORMATION QUESTIONS

YEAR GROUP 1. How many journeys do you make on public transport per day?

SCHOOL 1 2 3 4 5+

FORM GROUP 2. Are you satisfied with the service that you receive? Please rate 
the following aspects of your journey on average.

(10 = very satisfied and 0 = very unsatisfied).Which mode of 
public transport do 

you mainly use?
(Circle appropriately)

Train (go to A)

Bus (go to B) Cleanliness /10
Service 

Information
/10

Southeastern
Punctual 

departure
/10 Space/seats /10A

Which train company 
do you mainly use? Other Staff Conduct /10 Amount of litter /10

Safety
/10

Punctual arrival /10
B

Which bus company 
do you mainly use?
(Please PRINT clearly)

3. If the issues you are unsatisfied with above were tackled, would 
you be happier paying the current price for the Young Person’s 

Travel Card?

Your KYCC Rep <Insert name>
Yes

(go to Q4)
No

(go to Q5)

4. In relation to your answer to Q3, which areas do you think could be improved to do with your service? Please 
select as many as you wish and explain why they should be tackled. (go to Q5)

5. How often do you use a bicycle in general per week? 6. Would you feel safe riding a bike to school?

0 1-2 3-4 5-6 7-8+ Yes No

7. Is the Young Person’s Travel Card too expensive?
8. Does your school have suitable facilities to safety 

store your bike?

Yes No
Don’t 
Know

Yes No

Thank you for completing our questionnaire.

Note: In completing this questionnaire, you agree to your anonymous answers being involved in our Kent Youth County 
Council research. The results will be correlated for use by the KYCC Transport Committee.

Please return this questionnaire to your local KYCC member (or the person that handed it to you).

Page 36



5

KYCC Transport Committee Outlook MeetingWednesday 3rd June 2015 |

Findings

Question 1: How many journeys do you make on public transport per day?

1 2 3 4 5+
0

100

200

300

400

500

600

No. People

How many journeys do you make on public transport per day?

Analysis: 
It is clear that most people use public transport twice per day, with the ‘2 journeys’ column 
making up 67.2% of respondents. However, 20.3% of respondents use public transport even 
more often than that. This shows that young people heavily rely on public transport services in 
Kent. 

Question 2: Satisfaction with aspects of journey

Page 37



6

KYCC Transport Committee Outlook MeetingWednesday 3rd June 2015 |

Analysis:
 It is clear that Safety is a significant factor that young people are very happy with.
 However, Service Information (timetables etc.) and Space on public transport were 

rated at an average of 5.75 and 5.2 out of ten respectively. We interpret these as 
‘satisfactory’.

 Staff Conduct was rated at around 4.3, which is below our base mark of ‘5’.
 Cleanliness, Litter problems and Punctual Arrival were rated below average and a 

significant problem on all services including trains and buses.
 The red line indicates the average score for public transport in Kent (4.5/10).

Transport Problems:
 The main problems, as highlighted in our research, are as follows.
 Cleanliness: Respondents found that buses and trains are too dirty on all services.

Cross-company variations:
 Our data showed little to no variation in satisfaction with Stagecoach, Arriva, 

NuVenture and Southeastern or even between trains and buses.
 Crosskeys fared slightly better on all measures by around one point in the Shepway 

district on average.

Average Scores
Cleanliness – 3.7
Service info – 5.4
Punctual dept – 4.6
Space & Seats – 5.2
Staff Conduct – 4.7
Litter – 3.5
Safety – 6.7
Punctual arr – 3.6
PT in Kent – 4.5

Page 38



7

KYCC Transport Committee Outlook MeetingWednesday 3rd June 2015 |

 Litter: Respondents found that there was an unacceptable level of litter on almost all 
services, but admitted that this was partly down to students themselves (see page 11). 
The ‘used ticket’ bin was frequently cited as the only place to put waste.

 Punctual Arrival: Respondents across Kent noted that their bus and train services are 
often late. This is particularly a problem for school services. There were even instances 
where buses did not turn up.

 There are many other issues that the graph illustrates, which we feel should be tackled 
but the three main issues are discussed above.

Solutions:
 Cleanliness: More cleaners or services cleaned more frequently. Schools should appoint 

student position to act as monitors on public transport. Respondents voiced concerns 
that in some cases, buses could be seen as being hazardous to health.

 Litter: Install bins on buses and promote them through stickers etc. Even plastic bags 
could be available on all buses. Perhaps a no food rule on school services (difficult to 
enforce?)

 Punctual Arrival: Either make sure that drivers arrive on time or adapt timetables to fit 
a more realistic expectation for bus arrival at the destination. Most respondents 
commented that they had been on a bus that has broken down at some point. Ensure 
that all buses are in working order.

Questions 3 & 7: Public Transport prices

Page 39



8

KYCC Transport Committee Outlook MeetingWednesday 3rd June 2015 |

Yes

No

Don't Know

Is the Young Person's Travel Card too expensive? 

Yes No

Would you be happy to pay CURRENT prices for improved services?

Analysis:
 Some 54.1% of people said that they would be happy to pay the current £200 for the 

Young Person’s Travel Card (or £400 for the post-16 travel pass).
 Improving our transport services could be seen as a way of making young people more 

content with the price they pay for their transport to and from their place of education.
 An astonishing 45.9% said that they would not be happy to pay current prices for 

transport in Kent. Public transport in Kent is not worth £200/£400 per year.

 Analysis: 
 An absolutely overwhelming 

proportion of young people in Kent 
believe that the YPTC is too expensive for 
the CURRENT service standard they 
receive (some 81.2%/ over 8 in 10!)

 ‘Don’t Know’ was mainly train 
users or those who were unaware of the 
cost (this accounts for 14.4%)

 ‘No’ is a tiny proportion at 4.4%.
 Extract from the KYCC Manifesto:

“KYCC stands against high transport fees, 
including that of the Young Person’s 
Travel Card and post-16 Travel Pass”.

Solutions to the cost of YPTP/P-16TC:

42.3%

57.7%

81.2%

14.4%

4.4%

Page 40



9

KYCC Transport Committee Outlook MeetingWednesday 3rd June 2015 |

0 1=2 3=4 5=6 7=8+
0

100

200

300

400

500

600

Frequency

How often do you use a bicycle in general per week?

Do Don't

More students NEVER use 
bicycles than DO

 Lower the price for the Young Person’s Travel Pass and post-16 Travel Card to make it 
more affordable for ordinary families and those from more disadvantaged backgrounds.

 We recommend a price of £100 for under-16s and £200 for over-16s and payable in 
monthly instalments, not bi-annually as current.

 More generous means-testing than the existing system for more disadvantaged 
households.

 Split the overall price into monthly instalments of £16.60 per month for the Young 
Person’s Travel Pass and £33.34 per month for the post-16 Travel Card.

Bicycle Questions

Analysis: 
 It astonished us that more young people NEVER use a bicycle than DO at least once per 

week.
 Some 64.7% of young people NEVER use a bike.
 22.2% use a bike once or twice per week, 8.2% use a bike three to four times per week, 

2.4% use a bike five to six times per week and 2.5% use their bike more than seven or 
eight times per week.

Problems: 
 Most people never ride their bike in a week – almost 450 out of our sample of 679.
 Not enough bike lanes for people to ride in.
 Only 150 people use their bike once-twice per week.
 Roads are too busy and motorists are unaware of cyclists/cyclists are unaware of 

dangers.

68.2%

32.8%

Page 41



10

KYCC Transport Committee Outlook MeetingWednesday 3rd June 2015 |

Yes

No

Would you feel safe riding a bike to 
school?

Yes
No

Does your school have adequate 
facilities to store bicycles?

Analysis: 
 It would seem that safety is still an issue with 

56.3% of people, the majority view.
 This would suggest that this is a main 

contributing factor into the low ridership rates above.

We then proceeded to look at whether places of 
education have the adequate facilities to store bicycles 
that students cycle to school. 

Analysis: 
 Our research shows that schools in Kent tend to 

have adequate facilities, so this is not the reason for low 
cycling levels amongst young people.

 The KYCC Transport Committee concluded that 
safety concerns and the social trend away from riding 
to and from school were factors.

 Inconvenience was also a factor that was raised 
– school students tend to have large books and bags to 
carry. 

Solution:
 Develop a pro-cycling campaign with the 

backing of KCC.
 Print high-viz vests with KCC/KYCC logo and 

offer them to schools to give out to their students – improved safety.
 A majority percentage of people still think that they are unsafe if they ride to school, so 

we also suggest the following to tackle this:
- Create an app or z-card with safe routes to/from schools with safety guidelines for 

cyclists (advice on helmets, lights on bikes, high-viz).
- Cycling education programme at primary and secondary schools.
- More cycle lanes in high-traffic areas.
- Make motorists more aware of cyclists.

Companies Involved

The following chart identifies the share of passengers each of the transport companies had in 
our sample.

56.3% 43.7%

79.9%

20.1%

Page 42



11

KYCC Transport Committee Outlook MeetingWednesday 3rd June 2015 |

41%

20%

8%

4%

27%
Stagecoach Bus
Arriva
NuVenture
Crosskeys
Southeastern

Share of Passengers per company in sample

Modes of Transport Used

The following chart identifies the modes of transport that our sample used.

Train Users
Bus Users
Coach Users

Modes of Transport taken by Sample

KYCC Proposals for Young Person’s & Post-16 Travel Cards

Although as a group the KYCC Transport Committee has voted to steer away from its 
traditional message over the pricing of transport cards for young people, we would like to 
reemphasise our ambition to get the cost of travel for our age group down.

All of the following figures are based on the 2014-15 and 2013-14 approved KCC budgets.

YOUNG PERSON’S TRAVEL PASS
Budget year Cost of pass Gross Expend.

(£000’s)
Service Income
(£000’s)

Net Cost
(£000’s)

2013-14 £100 14,547.0 -2,459.0 12,088.0
2014-15 £200 13,301.0 -4,596.0 8,705.5

68.8%
%

27.4%
%

3.8%
%

Page 43



12

KYCC Transport Committee Outlook MeetingWednesday 3rd June 2015 |

Yes No

Don't Know

Is the Young Person's Travel Card too expensive? 

2015-16 KYCC Proposal £100 12,056.0 -2,298.0 9,758.0

The above figures show how there would be relatively very little increase in net costs to KCC. 

POST-16 TRAVEL CARD
Budget year Cost of pass Gross Expend.

(£000’s)
Service Income
(£000’s)

Net Cost
(£000’s)

2013-14 £200 3,174.2 -1,720.0 1,454.2
2014-15 £400 4,705.7 -2,780.0 1,925.7
2015-16 KYCC Proposal £200 6,237.2 -1,390.0 4,847.2

We also expect that more young people in both age categories would purchase the newly-priced 
travel pass than currently do. 

Trains
 KYCC recognises that all private companies need to make a profit.
 However, with a turnover of £755.2million in the year to June 28,2014*, we believe that 

Southeastern should help make young people’s train travel cheaper.
 SE recieved £53.2million in subsidies from the Government. What was this used for?

KYCC Transport’s Response to KCC’s increase as of 01/06/2015

The KYCC Transportation group is utterly disappointed and aghast at Kent County Council’s 
decision to increase the cost of our transport passes to £250 for under-16s.

We were not involved in the consultation process and it is a widely-know fact that many people 
in Kent think that the previous price of £200 is too expensive. 

We predict:
 Revenues from the service will decrease as fewer people will be able to afford the new 

freedom pass.

Page 44



13

KYCC Transport Committee Outlook MeetingWednesday 3rd June 2015 |

 Therefore, travel companies will lose this income of approx. £588 per child using the 
Young Person’s Travel Pass.

 The number of young people using the pass has already fallen at the current price of 
£200 from £100. 

 The number of passengers on buses and trains will fall and there will be an increased 
number of cyclists and drivers as a result of this – leading to environmental issues?

The KYCC ‘PTECK’ Campaign

We recognise that some of the issues presented as problems by young people in our survey are 
partly caused by young people themselves. In order to help transport companies clamp down on 
these factors, we have developed the ‘PTECK’ campaign.

Public Transport Esteem Campaign in Kent

This is a campaign which we aim to take to young people to encourage greater respect for the 
public transport services that they receive through several different means of communication 

Page 45



14

KYCC Transport Committee Outlook MeetingWednesday 3rd June 2015 |

with our age group. We think that because this is a project aimed at young people and 
promoted by young people for the benefit of young people, that we will achieve our aims.
The programme will consist of:

  Posters sent to all schools and education facilities in Kent.
  Education programme – e.g. School assemblies
  Possible use of advertisement space to put up posters inside public transport 

(buses/trains)
 KYCC Z-cards for appropriate use of public transport – make them school-specific to 

detail bus routes for new students etc.

Foreseeable issues:
 Lack of funding available to reach all schools/publish necessary materials including 

posters, z-cards and developing assembly packs.
 Lack of input from transport companies as to what they see are the main issues 

surrounding young people on their services and promoting the project.

As you can see, the two main issues we have with this campaign can be solved easily. We would 
like a degree of funding from KCC and a donation from transport companies to be able to carry 
out our work.

KYCC Transport Committee

Everyone in the Transport Committee played their part in helping make this meeting and work 
possible.
The Transport Committee consists of members from all regions bar one (Tunbridge Wells).

NAME REGION CONTRIBUTIONS

Fred Wright Canterbury & Swale Chair and Leader of the KYCC 
Transport Committee

Questionnaire research
Joe Horsnell Folkestone & Shepway Deputy Chair of Transport

Page 46



15

KYCC Transport Committee Outlook MeetingWednesday 3rd June 2015 |

Questionnaire design, 
processing and analysis

Angel Layer Canterbury & Swale

Sidonia Megan Woodward-
Wallace Thanet

Social Media,  Q’nnaire 
research & processing

Reuben Skeates Canterbury & Swale

Austin Scott Canterbury & Swale

Arpana Rai Ashford

Kyle Siwek Maidstone and Tonbridge & 
Malling

Toby Apps Maidstone and Tonbridge & 
Malling

Alexander Roberts Dunn Sevenoaks

Harry Davis Dartford and Gravesham

Daniel Sexton Maidstone and Tonbridge & 
Malling

Elena Ewence Maidstone and Tonbridge & 
Malling

Questionnaire research & 
processing

Our research was carried out between Sunday 26th April and Sunday 17th May in over 25 
schools/youth centres across Kent. 

Final Note
Thank you for coming along to our outlook meeting today. I hope that we have made a 

convincing case as to why you should support our Public Transport Esteem Campaign in Kent 
and back our calls for a better quality of public transport in Kent. We also hope that our 
research has shown you the opinions of young people in Kent in terms of both public transport 
and cycling issues so that transport companies and the KYCC can work together in delivering an 
excellent service for all. KYCC Transport is not all about moaning at the excessive costs of public 
transport in Kent, we want to make real, far-reaching changes to benefit young people and 
adults alike. We hope that this meeting marks the start of transport companies and KYCC 
Transport working together on the issues we discussed and once again, thank you for attending.

Fred Wright ~ Chair of the KYCC Transport Committee

(Please make any additional notes here...)

Notes

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Phil Lightowler - Head of Public Transport, Kent County Council
	Phil Lightowler - TsQs

	2 Norman Kemp, Co-Owner of Nu-Venture bus company and Chair of the Kent & Medway branch of the Confederation of Passenger Transport
	Norman Kemp - TsQs

	3 Anne Clark, Managing Director of MCL Transport Consultant
	Anne Clark - TsQs
	Arrangements for Reimbursement 1617 - Kent

	4 KYCC Transport Committee representatives, accompanied by Sadie Williams, Youth Participation Worker, Kent County Council
	Transport Brief 12th April


